A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Madhuri Patel, individually and on behalf of Amanda 

Hingorani, a developmentally disabled minor, seeks review of the Court of 

Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of a Court of Appeals, Division I, opinion 

filed August 26, 2013. The Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment 

entered on the jury's verdict in favor of the District. A copy of the decision 

is found at Appendix "A" at pages A-1 through 24. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. For decades, the Washington Supreme Court "has 

consistently held a parent is not liable for ordinary negligence in the 

performance of parental responsibilities." quoting Zellmer v. Zellmer, 164 

Wn.2d 147, 155-156 (2008). Likewise, Washington law prohibits a 

defendant from arguing that damages claimed by a minor child should be 

diminished due to claimed negligence on the part of the child's parent. 

See RCW 4.22.020; See also WPI 11.05. 

The trial court denied parental immunity sounding in ordinary 

negligence and approved irreconcilable jury instructions and a Special 

Verdict form that both required and prohibited the jury from diminishing 
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Amanda's damages based upon the claimed negligence of her mother, Ms. 

Patel. 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(l) & (2), should review be granted 

because the Court of Appeals opinion: (1) conflicts with Zellmer, RCW 

4.22.020, and WPI 11.05; and (2) conflicts with this Court's holding in 

Hall v. Corporation of Catholic Archbishop, 80 Wn.2d 797, 804 (1972) 

(prejudicial error for trial court to give irreconcilable jury instructions on a 

material issue)? 

2. Pursuant to Evidence Rule 412, evidence of a victim's sexual 

history and/or sexual predisposition is presumed inadmissible. This Court 

previously held that an individual's capacity to consent to sex must be 

assessed by analyzing a person's ability to understand the nature and 

consequences of sexual activity at the time of the offense. State v. Ortega

Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702,716 (1994). 

Moreover, evidence of prior sexual conduct of an individual is 

both irrelevant and unduly prejudicial where a victim, like Amanda, 

suffers from permanent developmental impairments "because the prior 

acts may have occurred due to the same lack of capacity." State v. 

Summers, 70 Wn. App. 424, 435 (Div. I. 1993). 

The trial court admitted evidence that Amanda was allegedly 

involved in a sexual relationship with her cousin at age 8- fully 8 years 
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before the events relevant to her lawsuit - as well as evidence that she 

attempted to obtain birth control a year before her victimization. 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2), should review be granted because 

the Court of Appeals opinion undermines the policy behind Evidence Rule 

412 and conflicts with both Ortega-Martinez and Summers? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Facts Related to Amanda Hingorani 

Amanda Hingorani was a student in the Kent School District 

("Defendant KSD") for her entire academic career. Amanda was 

diagnosed with cognitive and intellectual delays when she was three years 

old and never received a Full Scale Intelligence Quotient ("FSIQ") score 

higher than 71. Ex. 2; CP 2099-2102. Amanda participated in the Special 

Education Program throughout her academic career, from the first grade. 

In March 2006, while enrolled in the 9th grade at Kentridge High 

School ("KHS"), Amanda was evaluated by Defendant KSD to prepare 

her Individualized Education Program ("IEP"). The evaluation found that: 

(1) Amanda had an FSIQ of68, placing her in the "Extremely Low" range 

(bottom 2% of her peers); (2) Amanda scored a 71 on the Vineland 

Adaptive Behavior test (exceeding 3% of her peers in social and 

behavioral skills); and (3) Amanda's adaptive and cognitive skills were in 

the range of mental retardation. Ex. 6; CP 2104-2118. 
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During the 2006 evaluation, Amanda's mother, Ms. Patel, warned 

officials at KHS that Amanda often exhibited unsafe behaviors and 

required near constant supervision. !d. The staff at KHS agreed that 

"Amanda is not aware of the potential danger of situations and does not 

necessarily use caution when encountering risky social situations." !d. 

Shortly after Ms. Patel's first warnings to KHS staff, Amanda was 

financially and sexually exploited at KHS. In April 2006, Ms. Patel found 

a note that a classmate sent to Amanda. CP 240. The note showed that 

Amanda was coaxed to steal money from her mother's wallet in exchange 

for friendship, affection and sex. Ex. 7; CP 260-261. 

Ms. Patel requested a meeting with the administration at KHS. On 

April27, 2006, Ms. Patel provided KHS officials with further 

documentation of the exploitation. Ex. 9. Ms. Patel warned KHS staff 

that Amanda was being sexually victimized at school. Exs. 9, 47-49; CP 

1273, 1275, 1277-1278. Amanda was pulled from her mainstream classes 

and a "no contact" order was implemented between Amanda and the other 

students involved. Ex. 13. Ms. Patel removed Amanda from KHS until 

an appropriate plan of supervision was established. 

On April 28, 2006, Sally McLurg, the school psychologist for 

KHS, wrote that her evaluation showed that Amanda "cannot function 

safely and independently in the IP [integrated placement] setting because 

-4-
003020-13 641215 VI 



she is being victimized[.]" Ex. 11; CP 1133. Ms. McLurg found that 

Amanda "does not have the skills necessary to make appropriate choices 

... and/or to ask for help from teachers when she is in trouble." Id 

The same day, the KHS Special Education Department Chair, 

Jennifer Grajewski, agreed that Amanda should be given increased 

protection from dangers at school. Ex. 10; CP 1131. On May 3, 2006, 

Amanda's special education teacher, Francine Wilhelm, wrote to 

Ms. Grajewski, school counselor Vanderport and Vice-Principal Edwards 

stating her impression that another student was "grooming Hingorani for 

possible mental, emotional, and physical/sexual abuse." Ex. 12; CP 1140. 

On May 5, 2006, a plan of supervision was established, requiring 

KHS to provide one-on-one supervision for Amanda during school hours. 

Ex. 13; CP 282-284. This plan remained in effect for the school year. 

When Amanda returned to begin her lOth grade year, the school 

did not immediately continue the supervision plan implemented at the end 

of her 9th grade year. As a result, Ms. Patel requested a meeting to insist 

that KSD re-institute the supervision protocols. 

On September 13, 2006, a meeting was held between Ms. Patel and 

KHS personnel, including Ms. Wilhelm, Amanda's teacher. This meeting 

was also attended by Marnee Crawford, Amanda's counselor. Ex. 33. 

Ms. Crawford warned KHS staff that "there were reasons to be concerned 
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with Amanda's safety if she was left in any unsupervised times. This 

included lunch, passing times, and especially bathroom time." Ex. 33. 

Following this meeting, Ms. Wilhelm wrote to Ms. Grajewski 

about the issue of supervision, stating "I want to write in a 1:1 

[supervision on the IEP] based on the psych eval. from last year and the 

new information we have from the new therapist." Ex. 62; CP 1293. 

On October 17,2006, a second meeting was held between Ms. 

Patel and KHS staff. Issues discussed included: (1) Ms. Patel's ongoing 

concerns that Amanda was at risk; (2) Ms. Patel's warnings that Amanda 

remained vulnerable to exploitation; (3) Amanda's inability to know right 

from wrong; and (4) Amanda's inability to make safe decisions. Ex. 35; 

CP 2122-2146. Ms. Patel again requested that the supervision plan be re

instituted for Amanda's lOth grade year and insisted on it as a pre

condition of Amanda's return to KHS. Ex. 30; CP 240-241; 1142. 

In the agreement drafted at the October 17, 2006 meeting, KSD 

specifically acknowledged that, "Amanda is vulnerability [sic] to 

exploitation as file records indicate." Ex. 35; CP 2122-2146. Accordingly, 

KHS agreed to re-implement the one-on-one supervision plan. Id 

Ms. Patel was told by KHS that while Amanda was receiving 

special education instruction, at least three adults were present in the 

classroom. CP 241-242. Ms. Patel was assured that Amanda was required 
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to use a bathroom reserved for the female special education students, and 

that she would be escorted to and from the bathroom by staff. CP 242. 

During this same period, Ms. Wilhelm documented additional 

examples of Amanda's vulnerability. On February 2, 2007, Ms. Wilhelm 

noted that Amanda "will do anything to be involved" in social groups and 

did not understand the difference between "violent rape" and "desire or 

love." Ex. 39; CP 1148. Ms. Wilhelm understood her obligation to 

supervise Amanda. Ms. Wilhelm wrote, "the agreement we have with 

Hingorani's mom is that [Amanda] be supervised at all times." 

By late April2007, KHS abdicated its responsibility to protect 

Amanda by abandoning the supervision protocols. As a result, Amanda 

was sexually victimized in the boys' bathroom during Ms. Wilhelm's 

class. Ex. 52. On April30, 2007, Ms. Wilhelm sent an e-mail to 

Ms. Grajewski noting that school administrator Molly King found 

Amanda and a male student "hugging" in the school hallway during class 

-when each was supposed to be under Ms. Wilhelm's supervision. Ex. 

44; CP 1263. Ms. Grajewski responded, "contact Amanda's mom and 

alert her about the bathroom incident! This is serious." !d. 

Later that day, Ms. Wilhelm informed Ms. Patel via email that a 

few days earlier, Ms. Wilhelm caught another student, "Matt," sneaking 

out of class after Amanda left to use the bathroom. Ms. Wilhelm 
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"assume[d] that [Amanda] may have been about to repeat some of the 

same behaviors in our bathroom ... that she engaged in last year." !d. 

Ms. Patel asked Amanda about Ms. Wilhelm's report. Ex. 46; CP 

1269. Amanda disclosed that "Matt" had sex with her in the boys' 

bathroom located next to Ms. Wilhelm's self-contained classroom on 

several occasions during Ms. Wilhelm's third period class. Id. 

On May 2, 2007, Ms. Patel wrote to KHS Principal Mike Albrecht. 

Ex. 4 7. Ms. Patel advised Mr. Albrecht that, while KHS failed to provide 

supervision, Amanda was sexually victimized during Ms. Wilhelm's class. 

Id. Mr. Albrecht immediately forwarded the email he received from Ms. 

Patel to Vice-Principal Kim Edwards and Ms. Grajewski. Mr. Albrecht 

simply wrote, "See me." !d. 

Ms. Grajewski acknowledged that she and Ms. Edwards met with 

Ms. Patel "numerous times" and that "[Ms. Wilhelm] was instructed to 

have an IA with Amanda at all times." Ex. 47. Principal Albrecht agreed, 

writing "I thought that Amanda was under complete adult supervision 

throughout the entire day." Ex. 48. Vice-Principal Edwards also indicated 

that "we were under the impression that Amanda was under complete 

adult supervision throughout her school day." Ex. 49. 
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2. Procedural History 

On June 18, 2008, Petitioner filed a Complaint for Damages 

against Defendant KSD. CP 9-25. Petitioner alleged two causes of action 

pertaining to KSD: (1) negligence; and (2) failure to report child abuse 

and/or neglect pursuant to RCW 26.44.030. CP 22, 24. 

Trial commenced on June 13, 2011 and lasted more than six 

weeks. CP. 2378-2448. On July 27, 2011, the jury found that both KSD 

and Ms. Patel were negligent on the special verdict form reflecting 

Amanda's claims. CP 2445. The jury also concluded that both KSD and 

Ms. Patel failed to report allegations that Amanda had been abused and/or 

neglected, as required by RCW 26.44. CP 2446. However, the jury did 

not award damages to Amanda. CP 6696. 

Petitioner appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division I, identifying 

seven assignments of error. Defendant KSD filed a cross-appeal, 

identifying four assignments of error. The Court of Appeals filed an 

unpublished opinion on August 26, 2013. 

a. Parental Immunity and Allocation of Fault to the 
Mother of the Child-Victim 

Prior to trial, Petitioner filed a Motion Re: Parental Immunity. CP 

1349-1356. On May 24, 2011, Petitioner filed initial motions in limine. 

CP 1689-1708. On May 27, 2011, the trial court issued an Order Re: 

Plaintiffs' Motion Re: Parental Immunity. CP 1877-1878. The court 
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ruled that Defendant KSD could both apportion fault to Ms. Patel and 

reduce the damages claimed by Amanda based upon Ms. Patel's alleged 

negligence. CP 1877. 

b. Jury Instructions and Special Verdict Forms 

After the parties submitted competing jury instructions and special 

verdict forms, Petitioner filed a Brief Regarding Proposed Jury 

Instructions and Special Verdict Forms. CP 6543-6556. Petitioner's 

briefing attached a proposed special verdict form reflecting that Ms. Patel 

should not be identified as a negligent actor on Amanda's special verdict 

form. CP 6583-6586. 

As described below, the trial court adopted conflicting jury 

instructions that both prohibited and directed the jury to apportion fault to 

Ms. Patel when considering Amanda's claims. Likewise, the court 

approved a special verdict form for Amanda's claims that allowed the jury 

to apportion fault to Ms. Patel. See Section E, 1, infra. 

c. Evidence Rule 412 

On May 27, 2011, Petitioner filed a motion in limine seeking to 

exclude evidence of Amanda's sexual behaviors and sexual pre

disposition beyond those alleged in the Complaint. CP 1851-1862. The 

basis for the motion was Evidence Rule 412. On June 13, 2011, 

Defendant KSD confirmed that it intended to offer evidence of Amanda's 
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sexual behaviors and sexual predisposition at trial. The trial court ruled 

that Defendant KSD could introduce evidence that Amanda sought birth 

control and evidence that Amanda had allegedly been victimized by her 

cousin. CP 5942. 

E. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

1. The Trial Court's Ruling on Parental Immunity 
Resulted in Irreconcilable Jury Instructions and Special 
Verdict Forms 

Prior to trial, Petitioner filed a motion requesting that Ms. Patel be 

granted parental immunity. CP 1349-1356. Petitioner's motion cited 

several Washington cases supporting her requested relief, as well as RCW 

4.22.020 which states, in relevant part: 

The contributory fault of one spouse or one 
domestic partner shall not be imputed to the 
other spouse or other domestic partner or the 
minor child of the spouse or domestic 
partner to diminish recovery in an action by 
the other spouse or other domestic partner or 
the minor child of the spouse or other 
domestic partner, or his or her legal 
representative, to recover damages caused 
by fault resulting in death or in injury to the 
person or property ... 1 

Petitioner also pointed to the Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: 

I CP 1355. 

Contributory negligence, if any, of the child 
affects the claims of both child and parent, 
whether the parent was negligent or not. 
Contributory negligence, if any, of the 
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parent affects the claim of the parent only, 
but does not affect the claim of tile child. 

See WPI 11.05 (emphasis supplied); see also Poston v. Mathers, 77 Wn.2d 

329 (1969); Griffin v. Gehret, 17 Wn. App. 546 (1977). 

The trial court denied the motion, citing its belief that RCW 

4.22.020 does not apply to claims brought by minor children. CP 1877. 

Consequently, Defendant KSD's attorneys argued throughout the trial 

that: (1) Amanda's mother was at fault; and (2) that the wrongdoing of 

Amanda's mother should diminish the damages sought by Amanda. See 

e.g. RP p. 464 7, 1. 25 - p. 4648, 1. 16; p. 4648, 1. 21-24. 

The trial court's ruling is contrary to long standing precedent. 

Washington courts recognize that RCW 4.22.020 applies to claims 

brought by children, including decisions made by Washington courts after 

enactment ofthe Tort Reform Act of 1986: 2 

The direction in RCW 4.22.020 that 
contributory fault shall not be imputed 
applies only when a spouse, child or their 
legal representative brings an independent 
cause of action for their injury or death, not 
when the action is for damages incurred 
under RCW 4.20.010 ... 

Ginochio v. Hesston Corp., 46 Wn. App. 843, 847 (1987). 

2 RCW 4.22.020 uses the term "minor children" in the statute's heading. This 
provides additional guidance regarding the legislature's intention regarding the scope of 
the law's application. See e.g. State v. Chhom, 162 Wn.2d 451 (2007) (statute headings 
may be utilized to as source of legislative intent). 
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The trial court committed reversible error by inviting the jury to 

factor in the alleged fault of Amanda's mother when considering 

Amanda's claims. The Washington Pattern Jury Instructions state that any 

the claimed misconduct of a parent cannot affect the claims of a child: 

The Washington Pattern Jury Instructions 
clearly describe the allocation process to be 
used in every case in which released and 
immune entities share fault with a 
defendant. For example, instructions state 
that the contributory negligence of a parent 
affects the claim of the parent only, but does 
not affect the claim of a child, which is in 
conformity with the statutory scheme; a 
parent's negligence affects only the parent's 
claim, and a child's comrarative negligence 
affects the child's claim. 

See WPI 11.05. 

However, the trial court allowed Defendant KSD to make this 

precise argument during trial. The jury also received inconsistent jury 

instructions and improper special verdict forms on this same issue. The 

trial court provided two instructions (Jury Instructions 15 and 20) 

prohibiting the jury from considering the alleged negligence of Amanda's 

mother when assessing Amanda's claims. CP 6667; 6672. However, the 

court provided another instruction (Jury Instruction 23) directing the jury 

to attribute fault to each entity that proximately caused harm, including 

3 !d., p. 28. See also WPI 11.05. 
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Amanda's mother, when considering both claims. CP 6675. Jury 

Instruction 23 also indicated that "the court will provide you with a special 

verdict form for this purpose" of allocating fault. The special verdict form 

reflecting Amanda's claims also instructs the jury to diminish her damages 

based upon the contributory negligence of Amanda's mother - a statement 

that is irreconcilable with the directive given by Instructions 15 and 20. 

CP 6694-6697; CP 6695. 

In order for jury instructions to be sufficient, they must: (1) allow 

counsel to argue their theory of the case; (2) not mislead the jury; and 

(3) when read as a whole, properly inform the trier of fact ofthe 

applicable law. Bodin v. City ofStanwood, 130 Wn.2d 726,732 (1996). 

Claimed errors in jury instructions are reviewed de novo. Keller v. City of 

Spokane, 104 Wn. App. 545, 551, (2001), aff'd, 146 Wn.2d 237 (2002). 

Errors in special verdict forms are reviewed under the same 

standard as jury instructions- de novo. Capers v. Bon Marche, 91 Wn. 

App. 138, 142 (1998). When read as a whole, the special verdict form 

must adequately present the contested issues to the jury in an unclouded 

and fair manner. See Lahmann v. Sisters of St. Francis, 55 Wn. App. 716, 

723 (1989). A special verdict form is prejudicially defective when it 

contradicts accompanying jury instructions. As this Court held in Capers, 
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a special verdict form "may not contain language that is inconsistent with 

or contradicts that instruction." 91 Wn. App at 144. 

Prejudice is presumed when the trial court provides inconsistent 

jury instructions on a material issue: 

[W]e have held consistently that it is 
prejudicial error to give irreconcilable 
instructions upon a material issue in the 
case. Where instructions are inconsistent or 
contradictory on a given material point, their 
use is prejudicial, for the reason that it is 
impossible to know what effect they may 
have on the verdict. 

Hall v. Corporation ofCatholic Archbishop, 80 Wn.2d 797, 804 (1972). 

The alleged fault of Amanda's mother was a "material issue" in 

this litigation. The jury instructions and special verdict forms were 

inconsistent, did not accurately reflect the law, and related to a material 

issue considered by the jury. 

2. Evidence Related to Amanda's Alleged Sexual History 
Should Have Been Excluded Under Evidence Rule 412 

Pursuant to Evidence Rule 412, evidence of a victim's sexual 

history and/or sexual predisposition is presumed inadmissible. ER 412(b). 

This presumption can only be overcome if the evidence's "probative value 

substantially outweighs the danger of harm to any victim and of unfair 

prejudice to any party." ER 412(c). 
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Petitioner argued at trial that questions of capacity tum on 

cognitive considerations, not a person's sexual history. RP 34, 1. 10-16. 

Petitioner pointed out that allowing a defendant to avoid the exclusionary 

presumption of Evidence Rule 412 by claiming that the evidence was 

offered to rebut damages would eviscerate the rule's protections. RP 41, 1. 

19- RP 42, 1. 5. 

The trial court disagreed. Evidence regarding Amanda's alleged 

sexual behaviors, occurring eight years before the events described in the 

Complaint, was permitted. RP p. 56, 1. 1-15. The trial court also 

permitted evidence that Amanda sought birth control. The trial court 

concluded that this evidence was also admissible to establish capacity.

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