RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 25, 2013, 3:05 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 89470-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Appeal from the Court of Appeals
Division 1
No. 67711-0-I

MADHURI PATEL, individually and on behalf of
AMANDA HINGORANI, a developmentally disabled minor,

Petitioner,

v.

KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

FILED
OCT 31 2013

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
CRF

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NORTHCRAFT, BIGBY & BIGGS, P.C.
Mark S. Northcraft, WSBA #7888
Andrew T. Biggs, WSBA #11746
819 Virginia Street, Suite C-2
Seattle, WA 98101
Telephone: (206) 623-0229
Facsimile: (206) 623-0234

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The Plaintiffs have gone to great lengths to present the factual scenario they wish the jury had adopted but, of course, at this stage in the process, the merits of the underlying case are not at issue. Rather, the question is whether the court of appeals made legal errors involving important and unsettled issues of law, or where settled law has clearly been applied incorrectly. All arguments based on inadequacy of evidence are misplaced and should be rejected. Review is merited here only if the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Order creates a conflict in law, raises a significant constitutional question, or addresses an issue of substantial public interest that affects persons beyond the parties in the case. None of those standards apply, nor is this court faced with any broad policy implications raised by the Unpublished Order.

As is more fully described below, the Court of Appeals followed existing precedent, that court did not make any new law. In fact, by

declining to publish its opinion, the Court of Appeals implied that there is nothing noteworthy about the issues on appeal, and that the decision was based on existing Supreme Court precedent. A Court of Appeals decision is published if: (1) the decision decides an unsettled or new question of law or constitutional principle; (2) it modifies, clarifies or reverses an established principle of law; (3) the decision is of general public interest or importance, or (4) the decision is in conflict with a prior opinion of the Court of Appeals. RAP 12.3(d). By declining to publish the opinion, the Court has told us that none of the above criteria apply.

Further, because the decision is unpublished, we know that other parties and courts may not rely on the Opinion, even if the Court of Appeals arguably misstated the legal rule in its unpublished opinion. A party may not cite unpublished decisions as authority. RAP 13.4, GR 14.1. Obviously, because an unpublished decision is not precedential, it cannot lead to any lower court confusion or negative consequences to other persons if the appellate decision is allowed to stand. From the perspective of Supreme Court review, the instant case presents a routine, unremarkable Court of Appeals ruling that does not merit Supreme Court's attention.

Additionally, because the Plaintiffs' counsel chose an ill-advised and unconventional path at trial, this case does not provide a good

platform for making determinations about significant areas of law. The facts and issues are specific to this case, and they have no broader public importance. Even if this court were to find that the case presents issues that rise to the level of Supreme Court review, there will surely be better cases on which the Supreme Court can announce any new law.

A petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court if one of the following conditions is met: (1) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) The decision of the Court of Appeals involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States; or (4) The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). Neither in the petition for review, nor in the Unpublished Decision, are there any issues that meet the standards set forth above.

A. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH WASHINGTON LAW.

1. The Trial Court Properly Applied the Doctrine of Parental Immunity.

The mother's proportionate fault was clearly at issue in this case, and the School District proved that Ms. Patel was an at-fault party (*i.e.* she

had knowledge of Amanda's sexual activities at school, but she failed to tell the school). CP 6657; RP 4617:1-4620:4. The Plaintiffs incorrectly argued that the doctrine of parental immunity bars apportionment of fault to a parent. CP 349-356; CP 1698-1700. RP 99: 10-100:13; CP 6694-6701; CP 6675.

RCW 4.22.070 requires a jury to determine the percentage of total fault attributable to *every entity which caused the claimant's damages* with the single exception of entities immune from liability to the claimant under Title 51 RCW (Industrial Insurance). The statute provides a mechanism to distribute fault among tortfeasors, and it expressly states that allocation of fault is done for all immune parties. Laws of 1986, Ch. 305, RCW 4.22.070. The clear language of the statute tells us that defendants cannot be forced to pay for damages caused by immune parties. In the case at hand, the School District is only liable for its proportionate share of the fault, and it cannot be held to pay damages allocated to immune parties.

Washington recognizes the limited parental immunity doctrine, whereby parents are immune from claims by their children, unless their behavior rises to the level of wanton misconduct." *Zellmer v. Zellmer*, 164 Wn.2d 147, 154, 188 P.3d 497 (2008). *Jenkins v. Snohomish Cy. PUD 1*, 105 Wn.2d 99, 105, 713 P.2d 79 (1986) (citations omitted).

Parental immunity also acts to bar contribution and indemnity actions against parents. See *Jenkins*, 105 Wn.2d 99; *Baughn v. Honda Motor Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 118, 119, 712 P.2d 293 (1986). The parental immunity cases tell us that (1) children may not sue their parents for negligence, and (2) defendants may not obtain indemnity or contribution from parents.

Here, the Plaintiffs are attempting to persuade this court that – simply because a parent has parental immunity – fault may not be allocated under RCW 4.22.070. That argument is patently incorrect and it is contrary to both the intent and the clear language of the statute, which requires juries to determine the fault of immune parties.

It is important to note that no Washington court has ever agreed with the Plaintiffs' position. The Plaintiffs' reliance on *Chhuth v. George*, 43 Wn. App. 640, 719 P.2d 562 (1986) is misguided. *Chhuth* was decided prior to RCW 4.22.070 being enacted,³ and Washington did not have its current system of apportioning fault when the case was decided. The discussion of apportioning fault in *Chhuth* actually refers to a contribution action against a parent, which is clearly barred by parental immunity. *Id.* at 646-47. Similarly, none of the other cases cited by the Plaintiffs address allocation of fault pursuant to RCW 4.22.070.

³ The Tort Reform Act of 1986 took effect on August 1, 1986. Laws of 1986, ch. 305, 910. *Chhuth* was decided on April 29, 1986. 43 Wn. App. 640.

There was never any question presented at trial as to whether Ms. Patel was entitled to parental immunity, because neither her daughter nor any defendant sought damages from Ms. Patel. The only question was whether fault could be allocated to a parent, and the Court reached the obvious conclusion that fault is properly allocated to immune parents. The Court recognized that allocating fault reaches the desired effect of having a defendant such as the School District pay only its allocated share of fault, and not the percentage of fault attributable to an immune parent. The parent remains immune, and she is not subject to an award of damages. The effect of the allocation bears on the defendant; the defendant is not forced to pay the portion of damages allocated to an immune party.

Additionally, Ms. Patel had her own individual negligence claim against the School District, so the jury had to consider Ms. Patel's own fault to determine the comparative negligence issues. Ms. Patel's individual claims are subject to the normal rule that contributory fault diminishes her claim pursuant to RCW 4.22.005. The trial court properly applied the law, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court.

The Plaintiffs also incorrectly argue that RCW 4.22.020 somehow overrides the tort reform act, and prevents a defendant from allocating fault to a parent. As Division One of the Court of Appeals described (prior to the Tort Reform Act of 1986), RCW 4.22.020 merely provides that

husbands and wives will be treated like everyone else in tort law. *Vasey v. Vasey*, 44 Wn. App. 83, 96, 721 P.2d 524 (1986). The statute confirms that there is no disparity of treatment which can form the basis of a constitutional challenge. *Id.* Later amendments included children in the statute, but the intent is clearly unchanged.

The case at hand does not involve imputation of fault between family members – it involves nothing more than the garden-variety allocation of fault among at-fault parties. The concept of imputing fault to another family member is an entirely different concept than the tort reform method of allocating fault between entities. Pursuant to the statute, the allocation must be made to all immune entities, such as parents protected by parental immunity.

In simple terms, every plaintiff's damages are reduced by the proportionate fault of released and immune parties. That has been the case for nearly thirty years. Plaintiffs – whether they are children or not – cannot force defendants to pay damages that are attributable to other at-fault entities, even if those entities are immune from suit. Here, the School District pays for only its own share of damages. That is truly one of the hallmarks of the tort reform legislation: defendants do not pay 100% of the damages if there are other entities which are also at fault.

In its Unpublished Opinion, the Court of Appeals appropriately

summarizes other important issues relating to this topic:

Patel first asserts that the trial court erred by instructing the jury to consider the percentage of fault attributable to Patel when assessing Amanda's alleged injuries. ... However, because Patel demonstrates no prejudice arising from these alleged errors, her assertions provide no basis for a grant of appellate relief.

Given the jury's special verdict findings, it is clear that the trial court's instructions regarding the apportionment of fault had no effect on the verdict in favor of the District. Although the jury determined that both the District and Patel had breached a duty owed to Amanda, it found that these actions were not the proximate cause of any injury to Amanda. The jury likewise concluded that although both the District and Patel had violated the law by failing to report suspected abuse or neglect, Amanda was not proximately injured by these violations. The jury found by special verdict that the amount of Amanda's noneconomic and future economic damages was \$0.

Patel's assignments of error have no bearing on these dispositive jury determinations.

...

... Indeed, having determined that neither Patel's nor the District's conduct was a proximate cause of Amanda's alleged injuries, the jury never reached the question of whether to apportion fault to Patel.

Unpublished Opinion at 9, 10. The Plaintiffs' position that the Opinion is contrary to established law is without merit and their petition for review should be rejected.

2. The Trial Court Followed Established Law and Exercised its Discretion as is Required by ER 412.

The Plaintiffs incorrectly argue that the trial court committed

reversible error by exercising its discretion to allow certain ER 412 evidence at trial. That issue was raised on appeal and rejected. A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *City of Auburn v. Hedlund*, 165 Wn.2d 645, 654, 201 P.3d 315 (2009). A trial court abuses its discretion only if the exercise of its discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). In some cases, ER 412 limits certain types of evidence relating to sexual activities, but there are exceptions, and the trial judge must exercise its discretion. ER 412 provides that such evidence is admissible if it is otherwise admissible and its probative value substantially outweighs the danger of harm to any victim and of unfair prejudice to any party.

In the case at hand, the trial court engaged in lengthy oral argument with the parties and considered multiple briefs regarding the issue of whether to admit evidence regarding birth control and Amanda's relationship with her cousin. CP 9479-9553; 9466-9473; 9474-9478, 9458-9465; 9449-9457; RP 17:3-60:22. The School District offered evidence that Amanda was knowledgeable about birth control, pregnancy and genetics, and evidence about her historical sexual dealings with her cousin as evidence that Amanda had the capacity to consent to sex, as well as to contest the claimed damages. *Id.* Clearly, the Plaintiffs placed both

consent and damages issues at the forefront of the case, and the trial court's decision to allow a portion of the requested evidence at trial was within the court's discretion.

The record reflects that the court carefully considered the issues. The Plaintiffs argued and made innuendos suggesting that Amanda was sexually molested or victimized, but they presented no actual evidence that she was forced to engage in sexual acts with another student. Rather, the evidence was completely to the contrary; and the evidence showed that Amanda, consented to every sexual activity. The Plaintiffs' claim that "the trial court failed to exercise authority and instead allowed [the School District's] expert's opinion to establish the admissibility of evidence"⁴ is simply without any support in the record and must be rejected.

The Plaintiffs' reliance on *State v. Summers*, 70 Wn. App. 424, 853 P.2d 953 (1993) is misplaced. The criminal defendant in *Summers* was attempting to introduce evidence of a rape victim's past sexual behavior, without any of the unique characteristics present in our case. *Id.* at 432-33. The two cases present completely different issues and completely different uses for the evidence. The *Summers* court was not dealing with the issue of whether or not there was evidence that one had the capacity to consent to the activity:

⁴ Petition for Review, p. 16.

Where the *lack of capacity is based on a permanent, organic condition*, it logically follows that prior acts of intercourse cannot demonstrate that the victim understands the nature and consequences because the prior acts may have occurred due to the same lack of capacity.

Id. at 435 (emphasis added).

Likewise, the Plaintiffs' reliance on *State of Washington v. Ortega-Martinez*, 124 Wn.2d 702, 716, 881 P.2d 231 (1994) is misplaced. That case involved interpretation of a criminal statute: whether there was sufficient evidence to prove that the victim had the ability to understand the nature and consequences of a sexual act at a given time and in a given situation. In the absence of that showing, the jury verdict was potentially defective. The case has nothing to do with a court exercising discretion in connection with allowing ER 412 evidence at trial.

ER 412 specifically contemplates an exercise of discretion by the trial court, which necessarily results in the admission of evidence when the court determines it is appropriate. The Plaintiffs' attempt to have the Court of Appeals overturn the trial court's exercise of discretion failed. It is not appropriate for the Plaintiffs to ask this court to revisit that issue.⁵

B. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DOES NOT INVOLVE A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION.

⁵ And the court is reminded that the Plaintiffs chose not to testify, so even if they could establish that the ER 412 evidence had an effect on the verdict, they cannot complain, when they failed to attempt to cure the issue at trial.

The Plaintiffs do not argue that the Court of Appeals' decision involves constitutional issues, and the School District agrees that there are no constitutional issues involved here.

C. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DOES NOT INVOLVE AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THE SUPREME COURT.


The Plaintiffs do not argue that the appeal involves issues of substantial public interest, and the School District agrees that issues of substantial public are not involved here.

V. CONCLUSION

The Plaintiffs have not provided this court with a sufficient basis for accepting review of the case. The Plaintiffs failed to establish that the Court of Appeals strayed from existing legal precedent, that the Unpublished Opinion deals with significant constitutional issues, or that the case involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court. The School District respectfully requests that the Plaintiffs' unsupported petition for review be denied.